# Ozone-Assisted Settling of Diluted Oil Sands Mature Fine Tailings: A Mechanistic Study

Jiaming Liang, Fahmida Tumpa, Leonidas Pérez Estrada, Mohamed Gamal El-Din and Yang Liu University of Alberta

March 2014



#### **Oil Sands Research and Information Network**

The Oil Sands Research and Information Network (OSRIN) is a university-based, independent organization that compiles, interprets, and analyses available knowledge about managing the environmental impacts to landscapes and water impacted by oil sands mining and gets that knowledge into the hands of those who can use it to drive breakthrough improvements in regulations and practices. OSRIN is a project of the University of Alberta's School of Energy and the Environment (SEE). OSRIN was launched with a start-up grant of \$4.5 million from Alberta Environment and a \$250,000 grant from the Canada School of Energy and Environment Ltd.

#### **OSRIN** provides:

- **Governments** with the independent, objective, and credible information and analysis required to put appropriate regulatory and policy frameworks in place
- Media, opinion leaders and the general public with the facts about oil sands development, its environmental and social impacts, and landscape/water reclamation activities so that public dialogue and policy is informed by solid evidence
- **Industry** with ready access to an integrated view of research that will help them make and execute environmental management plans a view that crosses disciplines and organizational boundaries

OSRIN recognizes that much research has been done in these areas by a variety of players over 40 years of oil sands development. OSRIN synthesizes this collective knowledge and presents it in a form that allows others to use it to solve pressing problems.

#### Citation

This report may be cited as:

Liang, J., F. Tumpa, L.P. Estrada, M. Gamal El-Din and Y. Liu, 2014. Ozone-Assisted Settling of Diluted Oil Sands Mature Fine Tailings: A Mechanistic Study. Oil Sands Research and Information Network, University of Alberta, School of Energy and the Environment, Edmonton, Alberta. OSRIN Report No. TR-46. 43 pp.

Copies of this report may be obtained from OSRIN at <u>osrin@ualberta.ca</u> or through the OSRIN website at <u>http://www.osrin.ualberta.ca/en/OSRINPublications.aspx</u> or directly from the University of Alberta's Education & Research Archive at <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17507</u>.

LIST (	OF TAE	BLES	i	v				
LIST (	OF FIG	URES .	i	V				
REPO	RT SUN	MMAR	Y	V				
ACKN	IOWLE	DGEM	ENTS	i				
1 INTRODUCTION								
	1.1	Motivation						
	1.2	Object	tives	2				
	1.3	Repor	t Organization	2				
2	ВАСК	GROU	ND	2				
	2.1	Matur	e Fine Tailings (MFT)	2				
	2.2	Existing Technologies for MFT Dewatering						
		2.2.1	Inorganic Additives	3				
		2.2.2	Polymer Additives	3				
	2.3	Ozone	-Assisted Particle Aggregation	4				
3	METHODOLOGIES							
	3.1	MFT S	Settling Test	5				
		3.1.1	Sample Conservation and Preparation	5				
		3.1.2	Ozone Application	5				
		3.1.3	MFT Settling	6				
	3.2	Settling Effectiveness Assessment						
	3.3 Chemistry of MFT Release Water							
		3.3.1	Ion Concentration Measurement	7				
		3.3.2	Acid-Extractable Fraction (AEF) Concentration Measurement	7				
		3.3.3	Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) Measurement	7				
	3.4	MFT S	Surface Characterization	8				
		3.4.1	Zeta Potentials of MFT Fine Particles	8				
		3.4.2	MFT Surface Chemical Bondings	8				
	3.5	Statist	ical Analysis	8				

# **Table of Contents**

4	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION							
	4.1	The Effect of Ozone on MFT Settling						
		4.1.1	MFT after 24-hour Settlement	8				
		4.1.2	Initial Settling Curves	10				
		4.1.3	Turbidity of Release Water	11				
		4.1.4	Solids Content of Settled Sludge	12				
	4.2	The In	The Impact of Ozonation on MFT Water Chemistry1					
		4.2.1	pH of MFT Suspensions	13				
		4.2.2	Ion Concentrations of MFT Release Water	14				
		4.2.3	Acid Extractable Fraction (AEF) Concentrations of MFT Release Water	16				
		4.2.4	Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) and Humic Acid of MFT Release Water	17				
	4.3	The Influence of Ozonation on MFT Particle Surface Characteristics						
		4.3.1	Surface Charges of MFT Fine Particles	19				
		4.3.2	Surface Chemical Bonding of MFT Fine Particles	20				
	4.4	Investigation of the Mechanisms Involved in Ozone-Assisted MFT Consolidation23						
		4.4.1	The Effect of pH Reduction from Ozonation on MFT Consolidation	23				
		4.4.2	The Effects of Different Metal Ions on MFT Consolidation	26				
5	CONC	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS						
	5.1	Conclu	usions	30				
	5.2	Recon	nmendations	31				
6	REFE	ERENCES						
7	GLOS	OSSARY						
7.1 Terms								
	7.2	Acronyms						
LIST	OF OSF	RIN RE	PORTS	39				

# LIST OF TABLES

Ion concentrations of MFT release water (mg/L)	15
Cations added to 3 wt% MFT suspensions to achieve an ionic strength increase of	of
25 mM.	27
	Ion concentrations of MFT release water (mg/L). Cations added to 3 wt% MFT suspensions to achieve an ionic strength increase of 25 mM.

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Schematic of MFT ozonation apparatus 6
Figure 2.	Photographs of MFT suspensions after 24 hours of settling9
Figure 3.	Settling curves of MFT suspensions under different ozonation conditions 11
Figure 4.	Turbidity of MFT release water generated by ozonation
Figure 5.	Solids content of MFT settled sludge 13
Figure 6.	pH of MFT suspensions after 24 hours settling14
Figure 7.	Conductivity of 3 wt% MFT suspensions after 24 hours settling16
Figure 8.	Acid extractable fraction concentration in MFT release water
Figure 9.	COD and humic acid concentrations in MFT samples before and after ozone treatment
Figure 10.	Zeta potentials of MFT fine particles19
Figure 11.	Surface chemical bonding of 1 wt% MFT21
Figure 12.	Surface chemical bonding of 3 wt% MFT22
Figure 13.	Surface chemical bonding of 5 wt% MFT23
Figure 14.	Photographs of MFT after adjusting the pH to $3.8 \pm 0.1$ using concentrated hydrochloric acid and 24 hours of settling
Figure 15.	Settling curves of acidified and ozonated MFT25
Figure 16.	Zeta potentials of acidified and ozonated MFT suspensions
Figure 17.	Photographs of 3 wt% MFT after 24 hours of settling by salt addition 28
Figure 18.	Settling curves of 3 wt% MFT after 24 hours of settling by salt addition
Figure 19.	Zeta potentials of 3 wt% MFT samples after salt addition

#### **REPORT SUMMARY**

The accumulation of mature fine tailings (MFT) in tailings ponds with very slow natural consolidation rate has been a concern for decades. Previous studies and current practices for tailings consolidation focus on the addition of various inorganic and organic additives to reduce MFT production and accumulation. It is highly desirable to develop more efficient and effective techniques for MFT consolidation to reduce the potential environmental impacts of oil sands tailings.

In this study, the performance and mechanisms of a novel ozone-assisted MFT dewatering method were evaluated. MFT with different solids contents were ozonated for 15, 30, and 60 minutes to determine the optimal ozonation treatment conditions for MFT consolidation. The volume and turbidity of release water, and the solids content of settled sludge (i.e., solids) were measured to evaluate the performance of ozone on MFT consolidation. MFT initial settling curves were developed by monitoring the change of the water and sludge interface positions over time. To investigate the surface interaction mechanisms involved in the process, major ions of MFT release water and the surface charge of MFT fine particles were characterized. Specifically, these parameters included pH, ion concentrations, acid extractable fraction (AEF) concentration of MFT release water, zeta potentials, and surface functional groups of fine particles. Additional experiments were performed to investigate the roles of pH and ion concentrations in ozone assisted MFT consolidation.

Our results showed that ozonation treatment effectively accelerated diluted MFT particle settling at all treatment conditions tested in this study. MFT quickly settled after short (15 minute) ozonation treatment, leaving clear brown water and compact settled sludge. The volume and turbidity of release water and the solids content of settled sludge were comparable at 1 wt% MFT under different ozonation times (15, 30 and 60 minutes). At 3 wt% and 5 wt% MFT, a longer ozonation time improved MFT settling. Therefore, we conclude that the ozonation time needed for MFT settling varied depending on the solids content of MFT suspensions.

Additional studies showed that the ozone-accelerated settling of MFT particles probably results from a change in MFT particle surface properties and the weakening of repulsive forces among fine particles through at least four mechanisms: (1) the desorption of stabilized organic matter on MFT surfaces, which reduces the steric or electrostatic stabilizing effects among fine particles; (2) the release of organic acids (such as oxalic and acetic acids) into the water, which decreases the pH of the MFT suspensions and neutralizes MFT surface charges; (3) ozone breakage of organometallic complexes in MFT, leading to the release of oxidized metal ions such as Fe<sup>2+</sup>, Mn<sup>2+</sup>, and Al<sup>3+</sup> that can act as coagulants; and, (4) an increase in cations and carboxylic groups that facilitate the generation of metal humate complexes, leading to an accelerated precipitation of fine particles.

Compared to the chemical additives currently used or studied to accelerate MFT consolidation, ozone-based processes have several advantages: (1) The process is economical because even a low ozone dose appears to be sufficient to destabilize tailings fine particles; (2) The process is

environmentally friendly because ozone decomposes rapidly; and (3) The excess ozone can decompose organic compounds in tailings and thus improve the water quality.

Despite the promise observed in the present study, a cost analysis and a life cycle analysis should be performed to determine the feasibility of this treatment process. The effectiveness of ozonation treatment for undiluted MFT settling should be evaluated. The toxicity of the release water should be evaluated to examine the environmental impact of the process. Additional research on the long-term impact of ozone-assisted MFT settling processes on MFT reclamation is also needed.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Oil Sands Research and Information Network (OSRIN), School of Energy and the Environment (SEE), University of Alberta and the Canada School of Energy and the Environment Ltd. provided funding for this project.

# 1 INTRODUCTION

Alberta holds the largest oil sands reserve and the third largest (next to Saudi Arabia and Venezuela) proven crude oil reserve in the world. This oil sands reserve contains an estimated 2.5 trillion barrels of recoverable bitumen entrained in a mineral matrix of sand, clay, and water (Penner and Foght 2010). It is estimated that the Alberta oil sands contain over 1.6 trillion barrels of crude oil with over 178 billion barrels recoverable under current economic conditions. In 2008, the rate of oil production reached approximately 1.2 million barrels per day (Giesy et al. 2010), and it is anticipated that production will increase five-fold within the next two decades (Siddique et al. 2008).

At present, the most commonly used method for producing bitumen from mined oil sands ore is Clark Hot Water Extraction (CHWE) (Clark and Pasternack 1932). This technique requires large amounts of water and produces large volumes of slurry waste (tailings); approximately 12 m<sup>3</sup> of water is used and approximately 4 m<sup>3</sup> of slurry waste is generated to produce 1 m<sup>3</sup> of crude oil (Mikula et al. 2009). The tailings slurry consists of water, sand, fine particles (silt and clay <44  $\mu$ m in diameter), residual bitumen (0.5% to 5% mass), and naphtha diluents (< 1% mass) used in the extraction process (Chalaturnyk et al. 2002). Mature fine tailings (MFT) are the remaining materials suspended in the large on-site recycle water ponds after the coarse sand fraction rapidly settles (Penner and Foght 2010). Greater than 90% of MFT solids are fine particles to which aqueous organic matter is usually attached (Adegoroye et al. 2010). It has been shown that the adsorption of organic matter onto particles leads to an increase in their negative surface potentials, contributes to colloidal stability, and consequently inhibits the aggregation of particles in an aquatic environment (Chandrakanth et al. 1996, Farvardin and Collins 1989, Jekel 1986). As a result of these properties, it is estimated that the fine clay will require hundreds of years to reach full consolidation (Headley et al. 2010, Mikula et al. 1996).

## 1.1 Motivation

Ozone has been widely used as a powerful oxidant and disinfectant in water and wastewater treatment. Our previous research demonstrated that ozonation is an effective treatment of oil sands process-affected water (OSPW). Through this research, ozone caused rapid settling of the fine particles in the tailings water. After ozonation, OSPW became clearer and a layer of fine particles was generated on the bottom of the container. It has previously been demonstrated that a suitable dose of ozone can assist in particle destabilization and aggregation. For decades, ozone-induced particle destabilization mechanisms have been widely investigated. Accordingly, it seemed promising that ozonation could be successfully applied for MFT aggregation. However, the in situ ozone-assisted consolidation and remediation process for oil sands tailings has never been systematically tested.

Motivated by the lack of knowledge on the impact of ozonation on oil sands fine particle settling, the present study was performed to investigate the controlling mechanisms leading to tailings particle aggregation by ozone treatment. Information obtained from the present study can then

be utilized to help in developing proper reactors for oil sands tailings consolidation using ozone treatment.

# 1.2 Objectives

Our research addresses one of the most pressing issues facing continued and sustainable development of the oil sands resource in Canada: management of mature fine tailings and associated process-affected water. Our research is developing a novel, low-cost, and environment-friendly ozone-assisted consolidation and remediation process to increase the settling rate of the fine solid particles and remove organic components in MFT. This will allow less turbid water to be generated for recycling in the oil sands extraction process or its safe return to the environment. We measured the impact of ozone on MFT aggregation and investigated the mechanisms involved. The specific objectives were to:

- 1. Determine the effect of ozone on diluted MFT settling;
- 2. Measure the impact of ozone on MFT release water chemistry;
- 3. Evaluate the influence of ozonation on the surface properties of MFT particles; and,
- 4. Elucidate the mechanisms involved in the ozone-assisted MFT fine particle settling process.

# 1.3 Report Organization

The proposed theories and experimental design of the MFT ozonation process are discussed in sections 2 and 3. The effectiveness of ozone on MFT consolidation is evaluated under different experimental conditions and is discussed in section 4. Section 4 also investigates the mechanisms involved in the ozone-assisted MFT consolidation process.

# 2 BACKGROUND

# 2.1 Mature Fine Tailings (MFT)

During the water-based extraction of bitumen from the oil sands, a large quantity of tailings is produced. The tailings contain residual bitumen, quartz sands, clays, and silts (Long et al. 2006b). The slurry is transferred to a tailings pond where the coarse sands settle rapidly leaving a stable suspension of fine solids in the middle and relatively solid-free water on the top. It is estimated that the middle layer will take several hundred years to consolidate without any treatment due to its extremely poor water releasing property (Headley et al. 2010, Mikula et al. 1996). This stable suspension is called mature fine tailings (MFT). The constant accumulation of MFT requires more and more ponds for storage. The economic and environmental concerns created by the proliferating ponds containing MFT have become one of the most critical challenges to the oil sands industry.

## 2.2 Existing Technologies for MFT Dewatering

Many physical, chemical, and biological methods have been investigated to improve consolidation and enable reclamation of MFT (BGC Engineering Inc. 2010, Li et al. 2003, Matthews et al. 2002, Mpofu et al. 2004, Proskin et al. 2010, Sworska et al. 2000, Wang et al. 2010), however, the current technologies cannot overcome the environmental and economic concerns. The chemical-assisted process gives tailings a fast dewatering efficiency and produces sediments with high solids-content, thus it has been the major MFT treatment of interest to researchers and industries for several decades (Caughill et al. 1993, Matthews et al. 2002). In addition, centrifuge technology involves putting tailings through vessels where a spinning action separates out the water; however, centrifugation is an energy intensive approach for tailings management (Mikula et al. 2009). Here we mainly focus on the review of inorganic and organic additives and ozone treatment.

## 2.2.1 Inorganic Additives

The gypsum addition method has been widely used in industries to accelerate tailings densification. At dosages between 900 and 1,200 g/m<sup>3</sup>, gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O) was considered to be the most effective and economically-accessible coagulant for the consolidation of tailings (producing CT – consolidated tailings or composite tailings) (Matthews et al. 2002). However, this process may detrimentally affect the efficiency of bitumen extraction due to the continuous accumulation of calcium and sulfate ions in the recycled water (Redfield et al. 2003).

Alum  $(Al_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 14.3H_2O, 50\%$  solution of aluminum sulfate) is another option for tailings consolidation. Alum, at dosages of about 1,000 g/m<sup>3</sup>, performs comparably to gypsum. Compared with gypsum, alum addition leads to lowered salinity and pH of recycled water (MacKinnon et al. 2001). However, inorganic coagulant aids used in the CT process have an undesirable impact on the resulting water, from both operational and reclamation aspects.

Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) assisted densification of oil sands tailings was investigated (NEDAPAC Co. Ltd. 1973, 1974, Zhu et al. 2011). It was found that lowering the pH with CO<sub>2</sub> caused the MFT to coagulate. However, the low solubility of CO<sub>2</sub> in saline water limited the CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration of oil sands tailings.

## 2.2.2 Polymer Additives

High molecular weight anionic polymers (e.g., polyacrylamides and their derivatives) have been used commercially for tailings treatment (Sworska et al. 2000). Xu et al. (2008) studied the filterability of the paste obtained after oil sands tailings were flocculated with polymers. The filterability of the paste was found to be two orders of magnitude higher than that of the untreated tailings (Xu and Cymerman 1999, Xu et al. 2008). It was demonstrated that strong adhesion forces were detected between fine solids in aqueous solutions in the presence of partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (HPAM) which acted as a flocculant (Long et al. 2006a). More recently, hybrid Al(OH)<sub>3</sub>-polyacrylamide (Al-PAM) was shown to be even more effective than HPAM in assisting filtration of MFT (Alamgir et al. 2012, Wang et al. 2010).

Although polymers can enhance the flocculation of fine clay particles, the excessive dosage required may cause destabilization of clay particles (Mpofu et al. 2004). Moreover, these polymer-based processes often incur high operational costs and their long term environmental implications are still unknown (Pourrezaei et al. 2011).

# 2.3 Ozone-Assisted Particle Aggregation

The oxidizing property of ozone is well known and it is used widely as a disinfectant and oxidant in water and wastewater treatments (Li et al. 2009, von Gunten 2003, Yan et al. 2007). The ability of ozone to assist particle destabilization and aggregation has also been noticed for decades. Several mechanisms have been proposed by Reckhow et al. (1986):

- 1. Ozone may release oxidized metal ions, such as iron, manganese, and alum, from organometallic complexes formed on solid surfaces, leading to an in situ production of coagulant;
- 2. Ozonation may lead to an increase of carboxylic acid content on solid surfaces, resulting in greater aluminum, magnesium, and calcium associations followed by precipitation of metal humate complexes;
- 3. Ozone can desorb the stabilized organic matter coatings from particles by converting the organics from high to low molecular weight and thus reduce the steric and electrostatic repulsive forces;
- 4. Ozone may induce polymerization of natural organic matter, leading to aggregation via bridging reactions; and
- 5. Algal/bacterial cell lysis caused by ozone can liberate biopolymers that may have been acting as coagulating polymers (Thanomsub et al. 2002).

For decades the mechanisms of ozone-induced particle destabilization have been widely investigated (Chheda and Grasso 1994, Farvardin and Collins 1989, Grasso and Weber 1988, Jekel 1983, Paode et al. 1995, Saunier et al. 1983).

The impact of pre-ozonation on coagulation and particle stabilization was studied through investigating the properties of flocs (Li et al. 2009). It was observed that pre-ozonation could increase the negative charge of particles and the polarity of ozonated water. The optimal dose was found to depend on the total organic carbon (TOC) in the water.

Bonneville and Smith (2001) demonstrated that pre-ozonation with small doses of ozone, when used in conjunction with alum or polyaluminum chloride (PACl), may slightly improve the flocculation of particles and facilitate their subsequent removal in a dissolved air flotation unit. However, it was also found that high ozone doses impeded flocculation.

The type of natural organic matter (NOM) coated on particles and the presence of calcium were shown to play roles in colloid destabilization (Chandrakanth and Amy 1998). It was found that ozone can break high molecular weight organic matter into smaller and more polar compounds (e.g., carboxylic acids) which are repelled from the mineral surface (Chandrakanth and Amy

1996, Yan et al. 2007). The desorbed organic particles destabilized the colloidal system (Yukselen et al. 2006).

In summary, it has been demonstrated that a suitable dose of ozone can assist in particle destabilization and aggregation (Beltran et al. 1999, Chandrakanth et al. 1996, Chang and Singer 1991, Chheda and Grasso 1994, Liu et al. 2007). Thus, ozonation may help in MFT particle aggregation and consolidation.

# 3 METHODOLOGIES

# 3.1 MFT Settling Test

## 3.1.1 Sample Conservation and Preparation

MFT from oil sands sites in northern Alberta having a solids content of 38 wt% was used throughout the experiments. MFT samples were sealed well and stored in a refrigerator at 4°C. The stable gel-like structure of MFT does not allow proper mixing of ozone using the available laboratory reactors. Ozone treatment of raw MFT (38 wt% solids) did not show any improvement on settling of the MFT. Even a dilution of MFT to 10 wt% solids did not exhibit any visible enhancement in settling rate in comparison to the untreated samples. Dewatering at measurable rates was observed only when the MFT was diluted to 7.5 wt% solids or less. Further, since both organic and inorganic compounds can react with ozone and impact the consolidation behavior of particles in a suspension, deionized (DI) water was used for MFT dilution to eliminate the impact of dilution water on the MFT settling. This will allow us to better understand the mechanisms of the ozone assisted MFT settling.

Therefore, in the present study, MFT was diluted with DI water to mimic fresh fine tailings suspensions with solid contents of 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% prior to ozonation (Alamgir et al. 2012). MFT suspensions were freshly prepared for each ozonation.

# 3.1.2 Ozone Application

Ozone was produced by a laboratory generator (Wedeco GmbH<sup>®</sup> D-32051) using USP-grade oxygen, and was applied to the diluted MFT suspensions using a semi-batch method. The gas flow rate was set to  $2.38 \pm 0.1$  L/min with an ozone concentration of  $71.14 \pm 0.64$  mg/L. Thereafter, samples of 120 mL of MFT suspensions were transferred to 1 L jars to allow immersion of the entire ozone diffuser (Figure 1). The samples were then ozonated for three different durations (15, 30 and 60 minutes) and were compared with the control (no ozonation).



Figure 1. Schematic of MFT ozonation apparatus. MFT suspensions with 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% solid content were treated by ozonation for 0 (control), 15, 30, and 60 minutes.

## 3.1.3 MFT Settling

After ozonation, the 1 L jar was sealed and thoroughly shaken for 1 minute. 80 mL of the MFT sample was then transferred quickly to 100 mL volumetric cylinders to initiate settling. The height of the water-solid interface was recorded every 15 minutes for the first three hours of settling as well as at the 24-hour end point.

## 3.2 Settling Effectiveness Assessment

The performance of ozonation on MFT settling was evaluated through four parameters:

- 1. Volume of release water,
- 2. Initial settling curves,
- 3. Turbidity of the release water, and
- 4. Solids content of the settled sludge.

The initial settling curves were created by plotting the solid-liquid interface positions over time for the first three hours of settling. After 24 hours, about 20 mL of release water was drained gently by a pipette and then transferred to a disposable scintillation vial to measure turbidity using an Orbeco-Hellige<sup>®</sup> digital direct-reading turbidimeter. If the volume of release water was insufficient for measurement, a certain amount of DI water was added to dilute it and make it to 20 mL. After removing some of the release water for the turbidity measurement, the remaining supernatant was discarded by pipette without introducing significant disturbance.

To determine the settled sludge's solid content, approximately 1 mL of settled sludge was transferred to a crucible and dried at 105 °C overnight to remove all water content. The weight

of dried settled sludge was measured after the crucible had been cooled to room temperature in desiccators.

# 3.3 Chemistry of MFT Release Water

## 3.3.1 Ion Concentration Measurement

To determine ion concentrations, MFT released water was centrifuged at 3,750 rpm for 10 minutes to remove suspended particles. The supernatant obtained from the centrifugation process was then filtered through 0.45  $\mu$ m filters to remove any remaining particles. The cations (sodium, calcium, magnesium, manganese, aluminum, and iron) were evaluated by an Inductively Coupled Plasma – Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES) (Thermo Scientific ICAP6300) and the anions (chloride and sulfate) were assessed by Ion Chromatography (IC) (Dionex DX600).

## 3.3.2 Acid-Extractable Fraction (AEF) Concentration Measurement

The acid-extractable fraction (AEF) concentration in MFT release water was measured by Fourier Transformed Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR). Suspended particles were removed from the release water by the centrifugation and filtration processes described above. To improve organic acids extraction, the pH of the supernatant was adjusted to  $2.0 \pm 0.1$  using concentrated hydrochloric acid to precipitate organic acids. Dichloromethane (DCM) was used to extract organic compounds from the MFT release water by separatory funnels; 250 mL of DCM was required for every 1 L of release water. To purify the extracts, the extraction process was repeated twice. DCM was then evaporated overnight in a fume hood to obtain only the organic compounds. On the second day, a certain amount of DCM (~6 g) was added to dissolve the AEF, and the AEF concentrations were determined by a PerkinElmer® FT-IR spectrometer (Spectrum 100) operating in transmission mode. The spectra were acquired and processed by PerkinElmer® Spectrum software. Carboxylic acids have two peaks at 1,743 and 1,706 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Yen et al. 2004), and therefore the absorbances at these two points were targeted. Thirty-two co-added scans were obtained for each spectrum. The spectral resolution was 4 cm<sup>-1</sup> and the spectral range was 4,000 to 400 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

## 3.3.3 Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) Measurement

The ability of ozone in removing organic compounds in MFT was determined by measuring the chemical oxygen demand (COD) of MFT. Before measuring COD, the MFT suspensions were shaken thoroughly for at least 1 minute to ensure they were well mixed. Different degrees of dilution were made before measurement according to the solids content of MFT samples. The COD of MFT is expressed in mg COD/g MFT.

## 3.4 MFT Surface Characterization

## 3.4.1 Zeta Potentials of MFT Fine Particles

The MFT suspensions were prepared and ozonated as previously described. The MFT suspensions were centrifuged at 3,750 rpm for 10 minutes to obtain solid-free release water. A small amount of settled sludge was added to the solid-free release water to generate a solution with 1 to 5 mg particles/mL to measure the zeta potentials. Zeta potentials of the MFT particles before and after the ozone treatment were measured by a Malvern<sup>®</sup> Zetasizer Nano-ZS.

## 3.4.2 MFT Surface Chemical Bondings

X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) was applied to determine the surface chemical bondings of MFT fine particles. To perform the XPS experiments, several droplets of wellmixed MFT suspensions were dried at 60°C for 48 hours on a piece of aluminum foil. A Kratos Axis spectrometer with monochromatized Al K $\alpha$  (h $\nu$  = 1,486.71 eV) was used to perform XPS experiments to investigate chemical bonding on the MFT particles' surfaces at room temperature. The pressure of the analysis chamber during the experiments was greater than  $6.5 \times 10^{-8}$  Pa. A hemispherical electron-energy analyzer working at the pass energy of 20 eV was used to collect core-level spectra, while a survey spectrum within a range of binding energies from 0 to 1,100 eV was collected at an analyzer pass energy of 160 eV. A Shirley background was applied to subtract the inelastic background of core-level peaks. Non-linear optimization using the Marquardt Algorithm (Casa XPS) was used to determine the peak model parameters such as peak positions, widths, and intensities. The model peak to describe XPS core-level lines for curve fitting was a product of Gaussian and Lorentzian functions. Different chemical bonds were corrected by using a C 1s peak at 284.8 eV through Casa XPS.

## 3.5 Statistical Analysis

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to validate data differences. Microsoft Excel® software was used to perform ANOVA and results were reported as p-values; p-values of less than 0.05 suggested that differences were statistically significant.

## 4 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

## 4.1 The Effect of Ozone on MFT Settling

## 4.1.1 MFT after 24-hour Settlement

Figure 2 shows images of MFT suspensions after 24 hours of settling. As shown in Figure 2, MFT with no ozone treatment did not settle in 24 hours. However, after only 15 minutes of ozonation, the MFT suspensions showed a well-demarcated sedimentation. The volume of water released in a sample containing 1 wt% MFT remained the same for all durations of ozone treatment.



Figure 2. Photographs of MFT suspensions after 24 hours of settling.MFT suspensions with 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% solid content were treated by ozonation for 0 (control), 15, 30, and 60 minutes.

Volumes of release water were greater in samples containing 3 wt% MFT that received 30- or 60-minute ozone treatment compared to 3 wt % MFT samples that received a 15-minute ozone treatment. The difference in volume of release water between MFT suspensions treated with ozone for 30 and 60 minutes and those treated for 15 minutes was greater for 5 wt% MFT samples than for 1 wt% and 3 wt% MFT suspensions. However, no change in volume was found between 30- and 60-minute conditions.

In 7.5 wt% MFT suspensions, 30 minutes of ozonation generated more release water than 15 minutes of ozonation. However, foam produced during ozonation began to overflow the sample container after 30 minutes. As a result, some MFT suspensions were lost in the 60-minute ozonation condition.

Our experiments showed that 15 minutes of ozonation is sufficient to settle 1 wt% MFT, whereas 3 wt% and 5 wt% MFT suspensions require a longer period of ozonation to obtain increased release water volume. The brown colour of the release water may be caused by the presence of organic acids that are produced during ozonation; this experimental outcome will be discussed further in later sections of this report.

# 4.1.2 Initial Settling Curves

The initial settling curves in Figure 3 illustrate the positions of the interface (normalized interface position h/H) over the first three hours of ozonation, where h is the height of settled sludge and H is the total height of the MFT suspension. Figure 3 reveals that, except for the 7.5 wt% MFT condition, MFT settled faster at higher ozone doses. This trend was the most significant in the 5 wt% MFT suspensions. The settling rate of 7.5 wt% MFT during the 60-minute ozonation was significantly affected by sample overflow due to foaming during ozonation.

As mentioned above, 15 minutes of ozonation was sufficient to settle a 1 wt% MFT sample but not long enough to settle a 5 wt% MFT sample. Differences between settling curves among samples ozonated for different times were not substantial in the 1 wt% MFT samples but were more evident in the 5 wt% MFT suspensions. These data demonstrate that higher MFT solid concentrations require higher ozone doses to accomplish MFT settling, and that the optimum ozonation time for 5 wt% MFT is longer than 15 minutes.



Figure 3. Settling curves of MFT suspensions under different ozonation conditions.
MFT suspensions with 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% solid content were treated with 0 (control), 15, 30, and 60 minutes of ozonation. H is the total height of the suspension; h represents the height of the solid-liquid interface. Error bars represent standard deviations of triplicate samples.

#### 4.1.3 Turbidity of Release Water

Figure 4 shows the turbidities of release water in the 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% MFT suspensions after different times of ozonation (release water in 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% MFT suspensions that did not receive ozonation remained too turbid to measure (over 1,000 Nephelometric Turbidity Units (NTU)) and these values are not shown in Figure 4). The release water turbidities in the 1 wt% suspensions were reduced as the ozonation time increased (from  $122.0 \pm 16.8$  to  $44.6 \pm 13.2$  NTU). The 3 wt% and 5 wt% MFT suspensions showed similar trends (from  $66.5 \pm 8.2$  to  $10.8 \pm 3.3$  NTU, and from  $75.7 \pm 9.9$  to  $22.8 \pm 6.8$  NTU, respectively), but there was no difference in turbidity between those receiving 30 and 60 minutes of ozonation (p > 0.05). For the 7.5 wt% MFT sample, there were large variations in replicate experiments, and no significant

differences were observed among all ozonation conditions ( $103.0 \pm 39.6, 99.0 \pm 18.6$ , and  $83.2 \pm 20.9$  NTU for 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation, respectively; p > 0.05).



Figure 4. Turbidity of MFT release water generated by ozonation.
 MFT suspensions with 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% solid content were treated by 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation. Release water was obtained gently after 24-hour settling without causing turbulence. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

## 4.1.4 Solids Content of Settled Sludge

Figure 5 summarizes the solids content of settled sludge in each experimental condition. The solids content of the settled sludge in the 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% MFT samples without ozonation were  $0.96 \pm 0.07$  wt%,  $2.8 \pm 0.24$  wt%,  $4.7 \pm 0.30$  wt%, and  $7.6 \pm 0.21$  wt% respectively, values similar to the initial solids content, indicating that no settling occurred without ozonation.

The solids content of settled sludge increased significantly after ozonation and reached greater than 5, 6, 10, and 12 wt % in 1, 3, 5, and 7.5 wt% MFT samples, respectively. Similar to the turbidity results, there were no significant differences between 30- and 60-minute ozonation conditions for MFT at all wt% (p > 0.05). The benefit from the longer (60 minute) ozonation compared to the 15-minute ozonation was most evident for the 5 wt% and 7.5 wt% conditions, demonstrating that these conditions may need a longer ozonation time (p = 0.01) to achieve settling.

The above results suggest that ozone can assist in MFT consolidation, but its performance is not improved greatly by longer ozonation times. The results for the 7.5 wt% MFT sample were

unstable, probably due to the overflow of sample during ozone treatment as discussed above. Thus the 7.5 wt% MFT condition was excluded from our other analytical experiments.





## 4.2 The Impact of Ozonation on MFT Water Chemistry

## 4.2.1 *pH of MFT Suspensions*

Figure 6 presents pH measurements of MFT suspensions in each experimental condition. The original weakly basic pH (7.7 to 9.0) of the MFT suspensions, due to caustic additions during the extraction process (Siwik et al. 2000), became acidic after ozonation.

The pH of the suspensions dropped substantially (to 4 or below) with any ozone treatment – it fell in small increments with increasing treatment times, and remained fairly comparable among the different MFT concentrations. The significant decrease in pH after ozonation may be attributed to the desorption of organic compounds coating the particles and the production of carboxylic acids (Chheda and Grasso 1994). We measured a much larger decrease in pH than Chheda and Grasso (1994) where the pH was only marginally reduced. Our observations might have been the result of more organic content in the MFT, a low buffering capacity, or a higher ozone dose. The pH of all MFT suspensions decreased as ozonation times increased,

demonstrating that more organic acids were detached from the MFT surface and/or more carboxylic acids were produced by the ozone treatment. The brown colour of the release water shown in <u>Figure 2</u> suggests the presence of aqueous humic substances. Importantly, a pH reduction can lead to other water chemistry changes that are favorable for MFT consolidation.





#### 4.2.2 Ion Concentrations of MFT Release Water

Table 1 summarizes the major ion concentrations of the MFT release water. Due to caustic additions during bitumen extraction from the oil sands, sodium usually predominates in original MFT suspensions (Chalaturnyk et al. 2002, Clark and Pasternack 1932). The concentration of most ions, except aluminum and chloride, increased 1.5 to 155 times after ozonation and showed a positive dose response. The concentrations of sodium and potassium approximately doubled after 60 minutes of ozonation, but those of magnesium, calcium, iron, and sulfate increased up to 100 times their original value. The increased concentration of cations is likely related to ozone's ability to break up organometallic complexes (Dowbiggin and Singer 1989, Jekel 1994); a decrease in pH can also lead to a release of metal ions as well as an increase in metal solubility into the suspensions, because many metallic oxides can dissolve in acidic environments. The increase in ionic strength (IS) of the MFT suspensions with ozone treatment might cause the surface charges of MFT particles to be suppressed and thus could contribute to their destabilization.

Wt% and	Cations (mg/L)							Anions (mg/L)	
Ozonation Time	Na	Mg	Al	K	Ca	Fe	Cl	$SO_4$	
1% Control	22.09	0.65	9.48	2.64	< 0.005	2.21	8.40	6.00	
1% 15 min	31.61	9.34	1.80	3.18	29.5	79.82	5.50	42.80	
1% 30 min	34.81	12.58	2.41	3.54	36.7	128.20	10.10	68.50	
1% 60 min	38.24	12.58	2.53	3.94	39.2	151.10	9.60	98.60	
3% Control	63.39	1.49	19.60	5.61	0.8	4.47	25.20	9.80	
3% 15 min	91.82	21.02	4.37	7.65	63.4	126.30	16.60	73.40	
3% 30 min	92.00	26.87	5.43	8.18	80.1	261.90	33.60	153.00	
3% 60 min	103.70	33.59	6.83	9.49	102.4	391.70	30.60	229.00	
5% Control	92.31	2.01	26.36	7.17	1.2	6.07	54.00	19.00	
5% 15 min	146.50	28.76	6.39	10.96	84.8	138.10	40.00	170.50	
5% 30 min	179.00	50.83	10.43	14.18	148.6	471.70	53.50	191.50	
5% 60 min	183.10	60.66	12.65	15.99	186.9	662.10	42.50	427.50	

Table 1. Ion concentrations of MFT release water.

Control = no ozonation.

The concentrations of aluminum ions were lower after ozonation. For example, the aluminum cation concentration in 3 wt% MFT was reduced from 19.6 mg/L to 4.37 mg/L after 15 minutes ozonation. This reduction in dissolved aluminum is probably due to an enhanced association between the metal and humate molecules induced by ozonation (Edwards and Benjamin 1992, Li et al. 2009). Inorganic compounds can change in composition, and thus in charge, with changes in pH; for example, aluminum hydroxide is a neutral species below pH 6 but at about pH 5.5 to 4.5 it can form positively charged species such as  $Al(OH)_2^+$  and  $Al(OH)^{2+}$ , and become  $Al^{3+}$  if the pH is reduced further (pH 3). Positively charged aluminum hydroxide ions are highly capable of trapping negatively charged species. Ozone has also been shown to form carboxylic acid which may also strongly associate with metals (such as aluminum and calcium) (Li et al. 2009), but this does not fully explain the findings shown in Table 1 which indicate that the concentrations of calcium and other cations were not similarly reduced after ozonation and that the aluminum cation concentration in 3 wt% MFT rose (4.37 mg/L to 6.83 mg/L) with longer (30 to 60 minute) ozone treatment.

One explanation for this is that ozone might have released and/or oxidized metal ions from organometallic complexes through the creation of an acidic environment favorable for this release, and generated carboxylic acids. Carboxylic acid groups, having a higher affinity to aluminum hydroxides than to calcium ion, preferentially associated with aluminum resulting in a decrease in the free aluminum ion concentration (Chandrakanth and Amy 1996). Due to a limited number of adsorption sites on carboxylic acid groups for aluminum and the continual release of metals from organometallic complexes, aluminum ions were continuously released

into the solution causing the concentration of aluminum to increase during the longer ozone dose.

Electrical conductivity was evaluated for 3 wt% MFT samples (Figure 7). Conductivity is a measure of the ionic activity of a solution in terms of its capacity to transmit current which is correlated to total dissolved solids (TDS). In dilute solutions, the two measures are reasonably comparable, and TDS =  $0.5 \times EC$ . As shown in Figure 7, ozonation led to enhanced conductivity in the suspension.



Figure 7. Conductivity of 3 wt% MFT suspensions after 24 hours settling.
 MFT suspensions were treated with 0-(control), 15-, and 30-minute ozonation. The conductivity was measured after 24-hour settling. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

## 4.2.3 Acid Extractable Fraction (AEF) Concentrations of MFT Release Water

To examine these proposed mechanisms, additional experiments were performed using FT-IR to evaluate the concentration of the acid extractable fraction (AEF) in the release water. As shown in Figure 8, the concentration of AEF increased 3 to 6 times after ozonation, correlating with the pH results and supporting the AEF as a contributor to the reduction in pH. This effect may be caused by desorption of organic compounds that coat the MFT surfaces and/or conversion of high molecular weight matter to lower molecular weight compounds (such as compounds with hydroxyl and carboxylic groups). Our finding that the AEF in MFT suspensions increased after sample ozonation is consistent with findings in previous studies (Edwards et al. 1993, Jekel 1991, Liu et al. 2009).

Because high molecular weight fractions are destroyed and compounds of higher polarity are formed during ozonation, the resulting organic matter has a lower tendency to be adsorbed on mineral particles such as silicon dioxide and kaolinite (Bonneville and Smith 2001,

Chandrakanth and Amy 1996, Farvardin and Collins 1989, Jekel 1991). Consequently, the welldocumented steric or electrostatic stabilizing effects of organic compounds on particles are reduced or eliminated (Jekel 1994).



Figure 8. Acid extractable fraction concentration in MFT release water.
 MFT suspensions with 1, 3, and 5 wt% solids content were treated by 0-(control), 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation. AEF concentration was measured after 24-hour settling.

The AEF concentrations in 1 wt% MFT suspensions did not increase significantly with longer ozonation time, but notable changes occurred in the 3 wt% and 5 wt% MFT samples. This result suggests that for the 1 wt% MFT suspensions, 15 minutes of ozonation was sufficient to desorb most of the organic compounds from the particle surfaces and/or to convert most of the high molecular weight compounds to carboxylic groups. The 3 wt% and 5 wt% MFT suspensions required longer ozonation times to achieve the desorption/conversion of most organic compounds.

## 4.2.4 Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) and Humic Acid of MFT Release Water

Ozone has been widely applied in water and wastewater treatment because of its advanced oxidative ability. We expected that excess ozone would decompose organic compounds in tailings and thus improve the water quality. However, our results showed no significant change in total chemical oxygen demand (COD) concentrations in MFT samples after ozonation (Figure 9). This might indicate that the ozone doses employed in our experiments are sufficient

to achieve MFT fine particle aggregation but insufficient to decompose organic compounds in the samples.



Figure 9. COD and humic acid concentrations in MFT samples before and after ozone treatment.
MFT suspensions with 1, 3, and 5 wt% solids content were treated by 0-(control), 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation for COD measurement. MFT suspensions with 3 wt% solid content were treated by 0-(control), 15-, and 30-minute ozonation for humic acid measurements. COD and humic acid were measured after 24-hour settling. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

Humic acid concentration increased slightly after the ozone treatment indicating humate substances were released after ozone treatment. Previous studies also showed that ozone may release humic acids from solid surfaces, which may then conjugate with the metal ions to form the metal-humate complexes (Edwards et al. 1993, Jekel 1991, Liu et al. 2009).

## 4.3 The Influence of Ozonation on MFT Particle Surface Characteristics

## 4.3.1 Surface Charges of MFT Fine Particles

Based on data acquired from ion chromatography (IC) of anions and inductively coupled plasma – optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) of cations, the zeta potentials of the MFT particles were expected to be less negative after ozonation. The increase in ion concentrations in the MFT suspensions as a result of the reduced pH was expected to decrease the surface negativity of the MFT particles through electrical double layer compression and assist in consolidation. The findings shown in Figure 10 support this deduction.

The zeta potentials of 1, 3, and 5 wt% MFT suspensions before ozonation were  $-46.1 \pm 1.2 \text{ mv}$ ,  $-47.6 \pm 0.8 \text{ mv}$ , and  $-49.7 \pm 0.5 \text{ mv}$ , respectively. After ozonation, they dropped, as a function of ozonation time, to around -30 mv. According to the Derjaguin-Landau-Verwey-Overbeek (DLVO) theory, the reduced surface charge should weaken the electrostatic repulsive forces among the particles, enhancing particle aggregation (HidalgoAlvarez et al. 1996).



Figure 10. Zeta potentials of MFT fine particles.

MFT suspensions with 1, 3, and 5 wt% solids content were treated by 0-(control), 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation. The zeta potential was measured at  $22 \pm 1$  °C after 24-hour settling. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

The reduction of particle surface charge by ozonation has been well documented in previous studies (Liu et al. 2007, Yukselen et al. 2006). As shown in <u>section 4.2.3</u>, ozonation can lead to desorption of organic coatings from MFT surfaces (Bonneville and Smith 2001, Chandrakanth and Amy 1996, Farvardin and Collins 1989, Jekel 1991). Moreover, the decreased pH and increased ion concentrations in water released after ozonation could contribute to the charge reduction of the MFT particles.

Consistent with the results from the MFT settling tests, the surface charges of MFT did not decrease to a greater extent after a longer ozonation time in 1 wt% MFT samples (p > 0.05). Nevertheless, the MFT particle surface negativity decreased after extended ozonation for 3 wt% and 5 wt% MFT samples (p < 0.05). This phenomenon demonstrated that a longer ozonation time is required to lower the surface negativity of particles in MFT suspensions with higher solids content. High dilution of MFT samples can lead to the reduced buffering capacity of the tailings.

## 4.3.2 Surface Chemical Bonding of MFT Fine Particles

Spectra of dried MFT suspensions treated with different ozonation times were selected to demonstrate the change of chemical bonding at the MFT particle surfaces before and after ozonation (Figures 11 to 13). The peak heights reflect the relative amount of chemical bonding on MFT surfaces. Before ozonation, it is hard to identify a peak representing carboxylic groups; besides the dominant peak of C-C (graphitic, aromatic, or aliphatic carbon), only a slight peak of C=O (carbonyl groups) is visible. However, after ozonation peaks representing carboxylic and hydroxyl groups became highly apparent.

This result is consistent with previous studies (Chheda and Grasso 1994, Jekel 1994, Valdes et al. 2002). Ozonation of organic matter is known to break high molecular weight organic matter into smaller, more polar, and oxygen-rich compounds, resulting in an increase in the substrate's contents of hydroxyl, carbonyl, and carboxylic groups (Chandrakanth and Amy 1998, Yukselen et al. 2006). This ozone effect likely contributed to the reduction of the negative surface charge of MFT. Consequently, greater association of aluminum, magnesium, and calcium to the particles is expected, leading to the formation of insoluble aluminum and calcium complexes, or the adsorption of particles to alum flocs (Chandrakanth et al. 1996, Edwards and Benjamin 1992, Yan et al. 2007).



Figure 11. Surface chemical bonding of 1 wt% MFT.

MFT suspensions with 1 wt% solids content were treated by 0-(control), 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation. Counts per second (CPS) represent the strength of signal; a stronger signal reflects a relatively larger amount of chemical bonding. Coloured lines indicate the type of chemical bond.



Figure 12. Surface chemical bonding of 3 wt% MFT.MFT suspensions with 3 wt% solids content were treated by 0-(control), 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation. Counts per second (CPS) represents the strength of signal. A stronger signal reflects a relatively larger amount of chemical bonding. Coloured lines indicate the type of chemical bond.



Figure 13. Surface chemical bonding of 5 wt% MFT.MFT suspensions with 5 wt% solids content were treated by 0-(control), 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation. Counts per second (CPS) represents the strength of signal. A stronger signal reflects a relatively larger amount of chemical bonding. Coloured lines indicate the type of chemical bond.

#### 4.4 Investigation of the Mechanisms Involved in Ozone-Assisted MFT Consolidation

#### 4.4.1 The Effect of pH Reduction from Ozonation on MFT Consolidation

To further investigate the role of the pH reduction that occurred during ozonation, the pH of untreated MFT suspensions was adjusted to  $3.8 \pm 0.1$  (comparable to the pH of ozonated MFT) by adding several drops of concentrated hydrochloric acid before settling the suspensions for 24 hours.

Figure 14 shows that the volumes of release water generated by ozonation or pH adjustment were comparable. However, the colour of the pH-adjusted MFT release water did not change to brown as it did after ozonation. These results indicate that the drop in pH may play a critical role in MFT aggregation, but is not responsible for the brown colour of release water.



Figure 14. Photographs of MFT after adjusting the pH to  $3.8 \pm 0.1$  using concentrated hydrochloric acid and 24 hours of settling. The original pH values of 1, 3, and 5 wt% MFT were  $7.7 \pm 0.60$ ,  $8.7 \pm 0.07$ , and  $9.0 \pm 0.10$ , respectively. For comparison, images of MFT ozonated for 30 minutes and settled for 24 hours are also shown.

As mentioned in <u>section 4.2.2</u>, the ionic content and thus the charge of inorganic compounds can change with changes in pH. For example, the dominant iron and aluminum species in MFT samples before ozonation were  $Fe(OH)_3$  and  $Al(OH)_3$ , and the pH was around 8. After ozonation, the pH dropped significantly leading to the dissolution of iron and aluminum hydroxide. The formation of positively charged species like  $Fe(OH)_2^+$  and  $Al(OH)_2^+$  could trap negatively charged particles and thus promote the sedimentation of MFT. Additionally, because of the release of sulfate after ozonation,  $Al_2(SO_4)_3$  and  $Fe_2(SO_4)_3$  may work as coagulants to assist in MFT settling.

The 1 wt% and 3 wt% MFT suspensions settled faster by adjusting the pH than by ozonation (Figure 15) but the difference between pH adjustment and ozonation became much less significant as the MFT concentration increased from 1 wt% to 3 wt% MFT. In the 5 wt% MFT suspension, pH settling was slightly faster than ozonation settling for the first hour and for the remaining two hours the settling order was reversed. These results suggest that ozonation induced changes in the MFT suspensions unrelated to a drop in pH. These changes may have included organic compound desorption, carboxylic acid production, and surface functional group conversion, each with a potential to facilitate MFT aggregation.



Figure 15. Settling curves of acidified and ozonated MFT. H is the total height of the suspension and h represents the height of solid-liquid interface. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

Additional studies on the zeta potential changes due to the pH changes were performed. As shown in Figure 16, the zeta potentials of the pH-adjusted MFT particles were all less negative than those in the ozonated MFT samples. The negativity of zeta potentials dropped to around -15.0 mV in all pH-adjusted MFT samples. Zeta potentials are affected by factors other than ionic strength, such as particle size and surface functional groups, and it was demonstrated here that ozonation can detach organic matter from MFT particle surfaces and alter the surface functional groups. Consequently, the differing zeta potentials of ozonated MFT samples and pH-adjusted MFT samples may have been influenced by these mechanisms. The lower particle surface charges in the pH-adjusted MFT may be responsible for the faster MFT settling.



Figure 16. Zeta potentials of acidified and ozonated MFT suspensions.
 Zeta potential was measured at 22 ± 1 °C after 24-hour settling. Ozone was applied for 30 minutes. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

#### 4.4.2 The Effects of Different Metal Ions on MFT Consolidation

<u>Table 1</u> shows the significant increases in metal ion concentrations measured in the MFT suspensions after ozonation. Cationic strength in the 3 wt% MFT suspensions increased by about 25 mM after 30 minutes of ozonation. To investigate the impact of each metal cation on MFT aggregation, selected cations sufficient to achieve a 25 mM cation ionic strength increment were added to 3 wt% MFT suspensions. Sulfate salts were selected due to the great increase of sulfate in the MFT release water after ozonation. Specific additions are listed in Table 2. The

simulated condition contained the type and amount of metal cations contained in the 3 wt% MFT sample after 30 minutes of ozonation.

Table 2.Cations added to 3 wt% MFT suspensions to achieve an ionic strength increase of<br/>25 mM.

The ionic strength was calculated following the equation  $I = \frac{1}{2}cz^2$ , where I is ionic strength, c is the molar concentration of ion, and z is the charge of ion.

Treatment		Catio	Cationic ionic strength			
Treatment	Na	Mg	Al	Са	Fe	increase
Na	1,150	-	-	-	-	25 mM
Са	-	-	-	500	-	25 mM
Fe	-	-	-	-	311	25 mM
Al	-	-	150	-	-	25 mM
Simulated	28	25	-	80	257	25 mM

Figure 17 demonstrates that the addition of cations led to successful settling in 3 wt% MFT suspensions, although the degree of settling differed amongst cations. According to DLVO theory, particle aggregation should be improved more by trivalent metal ions than by divalent and monovalent cations, through a far more effective screening of the electrostatic repulsion (Lee et al. 2012, Schneider et al. 2011). Our results showed that calcium addition produced the most release water, similar to 3 wt% MFT after 30 minutes of ozonation. These findings indicate that calcium ions may have the greatest ability to improve MFT consolidation, and the release of metal ions contributed greatly to the ozone-assisted MFT consolidation.

As shown in Figure 18, the addition of salt, except for sodium, settled the MFT particles faster than ozonation did. Calcium addition led to the fastest settling, followed by the ferric, simulated, and aluminum salts. The simulated condition largely consists of iron, thus it is reasonable that their settling curves are similar.

It should be noted that the release water generated by the salt additions were all colourless in comparison to those produced by ozonation. This phenomenon confirms that ozone not only induced a pH drop and cation release in the MFT suspensions, but also induced other changes in the water chemistry, including desorption of organic contents.



Figure 17. Photographs of 3 wt% MFT after 24 hours of settling by salt addition.
3 wt% MFT was treated with Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, CaSO<sub>4</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub> or Al<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>. The simulated condition contains the type and amount of metal cations contained in the 3 wt% MFT sample after 30 minutes of ozonation. 3 wt% MFT settled by 30-minute ozonation is shown for comparison.



Figure 18. Settling curves of 3 wt% MFT after 24 hours of settling by salt addition.
3 wt% MFT was treated with Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, CaSO<sub>4</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub> or Al<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>. The simulated condition contains the type and amount of metal cations contained in the 3 wt% MFT sample after 30 minutes of ozonation. 3 wt% MFT settled by 30-minute ozonation is shown for comparison. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

The addition of salt reduced the surface charge of MFT particles to different degrees depending on the cation (Figure 19). Consistent with other research, salts having cations with higher valence caused lower zeta potentials (Lee et al. 2012, Marchuk and Rengasamy 2011). However, MFT samples treated with calcium settled faster and generated more release water than MFT samples treated with iron or aluminum. The pH values of ozonated MFT suspensions were around 4, suggesting that positively charged species like  $Fe(OH)_2^+$  and  $Al(OH)_2^+$  were dominant. However, in the cation addition experiment, the pH was much higher and the neutral hydroxides prevailed. That is, cations may behave in different ways according to the pH. This result strengthens the assertion that pH and surface property/structure are important for MFT aggregation as well as the zeta potentials of the particles. The zeta potentials after adding all the salts, except for sodium salts, were less negative than those reached after ozonation. This may be because the addition of calcium, ferric, and aluminum sulfate reduced the pH of the MFT suspensions due to hydrolysis. This reduced pH would then release some metal ions into the water and increase the ionic strength that would ultimately further compress the electrical double layers (see section 4.3.1) of the MFT particles.



Figure 19. Zeta potentials of 3 wt% MFT samples after salt addition. The zeta potential was measured at 22 ± 1 °C after 24-hour MFT settling. For comparison, the zeta potentials of 3 wt% MFT with 30-minute ozonation and without ozonation (control) are included. Error bars represent standard deviations of three measurements.

## 5 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 5.1 Conclusions

The findings of the experiments performed in this research are summarized below:

- MFT suspensions of 1, 3, and 5 wt% solids content were successfully settled by ozonation, by lowering pH, or with addition of salt. Samples of 7.5 wt% MFT foamed and overflowed when treated with ozone, thus the results were unstable and further analyses were not pursued. There was no significant settling of 10 wt% MFT samples after 180 minutes of ozonation.
- MFT suspensions with higher solids content required longer ozonation times for settling. The final volume of release water, the turbidity of the release water, and the solids content of the settled sludge were comparable after 15-, 30-, and 60-minute ozonation treatments for 1 wt% MFT, indicating that 15-minute ozonation is sufficient for MFT settling. Significant differences in volume and turbidity of release water, initial settling rate, and solids content of settled sludge between 15- and 60-minute ozone treatments were observed for 3 wt% and 5 wt% MFT suspensions.
- The acid extractable fraction (AEF) concentrations of MFT release water increased 3 to 6 times after ozonation, which can account for the remarkable drop in pH (from 8 to 4) of MFT suspensions after ozonation.
- Changes in water chemistry were detected as a response to the drop of pH after ozonation. Ion concentrations increased dramatically, especially calcium, iron, and sulfate. As a consequence, the surface charges of MFT fine particles were largely compressed so that the repulsive electrostatic forces between particles were weakened.
- Changes in chemical bonding of MFT surface particles were found. Carboxylic groups were generated and their concentration increased as a function of ozonation time.
- After 24-hour settling, pH adjusted MFT samples generated a volume of release water comparable to that of MFT samples treated by ozonation. The zeta potentials of pH adjusted MFT samples were less negative that those of ozonated MFT samples.
- When salts were added to MFT samples, the volume of release water was greatest for calcium salts, followed by aluminum, iron and sodium salts. The zeta potentials of salt-settled MFT samples were the least negative when aluminum salts were added and the most negative when sodium salts were added.

According to the phenomena observed in this study and some related theories proposed by previous researchers, the mechanisms involved in ozone-assisted MFT consolidation can be described as:

- 1. In MFT suspensions, ozone converts the form and/or reduces the molecular weight of organic matter, forming smaller and more polar organic compounds, such as oxalate and acetate acids. These smaller organic compounds may then detach from the MFT surfaces and lead to the pH reduction of the MFT suspension. As a result, the zeta potentials of MFT particles become less negative and more neutral, reducing the repulsive electrostatic forces among MFT particles (Perez-Estrada et al. 2011).
- 2. Organometallic complexes in MFT are broken down by ozonation, resulting in the release of cations such as calcium and iron species into the suspensions and increasing the ionic strength of the suspension. Due to the compression of the particles' electrical double layers by bivalent or trivalent cations, the surface charges of particles are significantly reduced (zeta potential reduced from -50 mV to -30 mV). Released cations such as calcium and iron may also play a role in MFT coagulation.
- 3. The increase of cations (calcium and iron) and carboxylic groups facilitates the generation of metal humate complexes (Reckhow et al. 1986). More adsorption of positive cations on MFT surfaces also occurs.

Large floc production through particle aggregation and substantial MFT precipitation is enabled by the effects of the actions described above.

## 5.2 Recommendations

Before applying ozonation technology in industry, several ramifications of MFT ozonation need to be considered:

- 1. The increase in salinity and reduction of pH in the release water are potential drawbacks of this process.
- 2. The cost, feasibility, and toxicity of MFT ozonation need to be investigated.
- 3. Further study is essential to optimize the MFT ozonation process under batch or flow-through conditions.
- 4. Long-term studies of the impacts of ozonation on MFT settling and organic compound removal, and the oil sands extraction process should be performed.

## 6 **REFERENCES**

Adegoroye, A., L.X. Wang, O. Omotoso, Z.H. Xu and J. Masliyah, 2010. Characterization of organic-coated solids isolated from different oil sands. Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering 88: 462-470.

Alamgir, A., D. Harbottle, J. Masliyah and Z.H. Xu, 2012. Al-PAM assisted filtration system for abatement of mature fine tailings. Chemical Engineering Science 80: 91-99.

Beltran, F.J., J.F. Gonzalez, P. Alvarez and P. Protomartir, 1999. Improvement of domestic wastewater primary sedimentation through ozonation. Ozone-Science & Engineering 21: 605-614.

BGC Engineering Inc., 2010. Oil sands tailings technology review. Oil Sands Research and Information Network, School of Energy and the Environment, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta. OSRIN Report No. TR-1. 136 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17555</u>

Bonneville, C. and D.W. Smith, 2001. Effects of pre-ozonation and selected advanced water treatment processes on Mount Seymour impoundment water. Water Supply and Water Quality 1(2): 83-90.

Caughill, D.L., N.R. Morgenstern and J.D. Scott, 1993. Geotechnics of nonsegregating oil sand tailings. Canadian Geotechnical Journal 30: 801-811.

Chalaturnyk, R.J., J.D. Scott and B. Ozum, 2002. Management of oil sands tailings. Petroleum Science and Technology 20: 1025-1046.

Chandrakanth, M.S. and G.L. Amy, 1996. Effects of ozone on the colloidal stability and aggregation of particles coated with natural organic matter. Environmental Science & Technology 30: 431-443.

Chandrakanth, M.S. and G.L. Amy, 1998. Effects of NOM source variations and calcium complexation capacity on ozone-induced particle destabilization. Water Research 32: 115-124.

Chandrakanth, M.S., S. Krishnan and G.L. Amy, 1996. Interactions between ozone, AOM, and particles in water treatment. Journal of Environmental Engineering 122(6): 459-468.

Chang, S.D. and P.C. Singer, 1991. The impact of ozonation on particle stability and the removal of TOC and THM precursors. Journal American Water Works Association 83: 71-79.

Chheda, P. and D. Grasso, 1994. Surface thermodynamics of ozone-induced particle destabilization. Langmuir 10: 1044-1053.

Clark, K.A. and D.S. Pasternack, 1932. Hot water separation of bitumen from Alberta bituminous sand. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry 24(12): 1410-1416.

Dowbiggin, W.B. and P.C. Singer, 1989. Effects of natural organic-matter and calcium on ozone-induced particle destabilization. Journal American Water Works Association 81: 77-85.

Edwards, M. and M.M. Benjamin, 1992. Effect of preozonation on coagulant-NOM interactions Journal American Water Works Association 84(8): 63-72.

Edwards, M., M. Boller and M.M. Benjamin, 1993. Effect of pre-ozonation on removal of organic-matter during water-treatment plant-operations. Water Science and Technology 27: 37-45.

Farvardin, M.R. and A.G. Collins, 1989. Preozonation as an aid in the coagulation of humic substances – optimum preozonation dose. Water Research 23: 307-316.

Giesy, J.P., J.C. Anderson and S.B. Wiseman, 2010. Alberta oil sands development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107: 951-952.

Grasso, D. and W.J. Weber, 1988. Ozone-induced particle destabilization. Journal (American Water Works Association) 80: 73-81.

Headley, J.V., S.A. Armstrong, K.M. Peru, R.J. Mikula, J.J. Germida, M.M. Mapolelo, R.P. Rodgers and A.G. Marshall, 2010. Ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry of simulated runoff from treated oil sands mature fine tailings. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 24: 2400-2406.

HidalgoAlvarez, R., A. Martin, A. Fernandez, D. Bastos, F. Martinez and F.J. delasNieves, 1996. Electrokinetic properties, colloidal stability and aggregation kinetics of polymer colloids. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 67: 1-118.

Jekel, M.R., 1983. The benefits of ozone treatment prior to flocculation processes. Ozone-Science & Engineering 5: 21-35.

Jekel, M.R., 1986. The stabilization of dispersed mineral particles by adsorption of humic substances. Water Research 20(12): 1543-1554.

Jekel, M.R., 1991. Particle stability in the presence of preozonated humic acids. Water Supply, 9(1): 79-85.

Jekel, M.R., 1994. Flocculation effects of ozone. Ozone-Science & Engineering 16: 55-66.

Lee, R., K. Stack, D. Richardson, T. Lewis and G. Garnier, 2012. Multi-salt coagulation of soft pitch colloids. Colloids and Surfaces A – Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 409: 74-80.

Li, T., X.M. Yan, D.S. Wang and F.L. Wang, 2009. Impact of preozonation on the performance of coagulated flocs. Chemosphere 75: 187-192.

Li, X., Y. Feng, J.J. Slaski and M. Fung, 2003. Evaluation of the capability of aggregated oil sands mine tailings: Biological indicators. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 42: 47-50.

Liu, H., D.S. Wang, M. Wang, H.X. Tang and M. Yang, 2007. Effect of pre-ozonation on coagulation with IPF-PACls: Role of coagulant speciation. Colloids and Surfaces A – Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 294: 111-116.

Liu, H.L., F.Q. Cheng and D.S. Wang, 2009. Interaction of ozone and organic matter in coagulation with inorganic polymer flocculant-PACI: Role of organic components. Desalination 249: 596-601.

Long, J., H. Li, Z. Xu and J.H. Masliyah, 2006a. Role of colloidal interactions in oil sand tailings treatment. AIChE Journal 52(1): 371-383.

Long, J., Z.H. Xu and J.H. Masliyah, 2006b. Role of illite-illite interactions in oil sands processing. Colloids and Surfaces A – Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 281: 202-214.

MacKinnon, M.D., J.G. Matthews, W.H. Shaw and R.G. Cuddy, 2001. Water quality issues associated with implementation of composite tailings (CT) technology for managing oil sands tailings. International Journal of Surface Mining, Reclamation and Environment 15(4): 235-256.

Marchuk, A. and P. Rengasamy, 2011. Clay behaviour in suspension is related to the ionicity of clay-cation bonds. Applied Clay Science 53: 754-759.

Matthews, J.G., W.H. Shaw, M.D. MacKinnon and R.G. Cuddy, 2002. Development of composite tailings technology at Syncrude Canada. International Journal of Surface Mining, Reclamation and Environment 16(1): 24-39.

Mikula, R.J., K.L. Kasperski, R.D. Burns and M.D. MacKinnon, 1996. Nature and fate of oil sands fine tailings. Suspensions Fundamentals and Applications in the Petroleum Industry 251: 677-723.

Mikula, R.J., A. Munoz and O. Omotoso, 2009. Centrifugation options for production of dry stackable tailings in surface-mined oil sands tailings management. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 48: 19-23.

Mpofu, P., J. Addai-Mensah and J. Ralston, 2004. Flocculation and dewatering behaviour of smectite dispersions: Effect of polymer structure type. Minerals Engineering 17: 411-423.

NEDAPAC Co. Ltd., 1973. Some methods for treating tar sands tailings: Part 1 – Laboratory application of CO<sub>2</sub> process and related testing of type "X" treatment. Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta. 47 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.32811</u>

NEDAPAC Co. Ltd., 1974. Some methods for treating tar sands tailings: Part 2 – Theory of CO<sub>2</sub> process. Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta. 41 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.32812

Paode, R.D., M.S. Chandrakanth, G.L. Amy, J.T. Gramith and D.W. Ferguson, 1995. Ozone versus ozone peroxide-induced particle destabilization and aggregation – a pilot-study. Ozone-Science & Engineering 17: 25-51.

Penner, T.J. and J.M. Foght, 2010. Mature fine tailings from oil sands processing harbour diverse methanogenic communities. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 56(6): 459-470.

Perez-Estrada, L.A., X.M. Han, P. Drzewicz, M. Gamal El-Din, P.M. Fedorak and J.W. Martin, 2011. Structure-reactivity of naphthenic acids in the ozonation process. Environmental Science & Technology 45: 7431-7437.

Pourrezaei, P., P. Drzewicz, Y.N. Wang, M. Gamal El-Din, L.A. Perez-Estrada, J.W. Martin, J. Anderson, S. Wiseman, K. Liber and J.P. Giesy, 2011. The impact of metallic coagulants on the removal of organic compounds from oil sands process-affected water. Environmental Science & Technology 45: 8452-8459.

Proskin, S., D. Sego and M. Alostaz, 2010. Freeze-thaw and consolidation tests on Suncor mature fine tailings (MFT). Cold Regions Science and Technology 63: 110-120.

Reckhow, D.A., B. Legube and P.C. Singer, 1986. The ozonation of organic halide precursors – effect of bicarbonate. Water Research 20: 987-998.

Redfield, E., C. Croser, J.J. Zwiazek, M.D. MacKinnon and C. Qualizza, 2003. Responses of red-osier dogwood to oil sands tailings treated with gypsum or alum. Journal of Environmental Quality 32: 1008-1014.

Saunier, B.M., R.E. Selleck and R.R. Trussell, 1983. Preozonation as a coagulant aid in drinking-water treatment. Journal (American Water Works Association) 75: 239-246.

Schneider, C., M. Hanisch, B. Wedel, A. Jusufi and M. Ballauff, 2011. Experimental study of electrostatically stabilized colloidal particles: Colloidal stability and charge reversal. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 358: 62-67.

Siddique, T., R. Gupta, P.M. Fedorak, M.D. MacKinnon and J.M. Foght, 2008. A first approximation kinetic model to predict methane generation from an oil sands tailings settling basin. Chemosphere 72: 1573-1580.

Siwik, P.L., T. Van Meer, M.D. MacKinnon and C.A. Paszkowski, 2000. Growth of fathead minnows in oilsand-processed wastewater in laboratory and field. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 19: 1837-1845.

Sworska, A., J.S. Laskowski and G. Cymerman, 2000. Flocculation of the Syncrude fine tailings. Part I. Effect of pH, polymer dosage and Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> cations. International Journal of Mineral Processing 60: 143-152.

Thanomsub, B., V. Anupunpisit, S. Chanphetch, T. Watcharachaipong, R. Poonkhum and C. Srisukonth, 2002. Effects of ozone treatment on cell growth and ultrastructural changes in bacteria. Journal of General and Applied Microbiology 48: 193-199.

Valdes, H., M. Sanchez-Polo, J. Rivera-Utrilla and C.A. Zaror, 2002. Effect of ozone treatment on surface properties of activated carbon. Langmuir 18: 2111-2116.

von Gunten, U., 2003. Ozonation of drinking water: Part I. Oxidation kinetics and product formation. Water Research 37: 1443-1467.

Wang, X.Y., X.H. Feng, Z.H. Xu and J.H. Masliyah, 2010. Polymer aids for settling and filtration of oil sands tailings. Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering 88: 403-410.

Xu, Y. and G. Cymerman, 1999. Flocculation of fine oil sand tails. IN: Polymers in Mineral Processing, Proceedings of the UBC-McGill Bi-Annual International Symposium on Fundamentals of Mineral Processing, 3rd, Quebec City, Quebec, Aug. 22-26, 1999: 591-604.

Xu, Y.M., T. Dabros and J.M. Kan, 2008. Filterability of oil sands tailings. Process Safety and Environmental Protection 86: 268-276.

Yan, M., D. Wang, B. Shi, M. Wang and Y. Yan, 2007. Effect of pre-ozonation on optimized coagulation of a typical North China source water. Chemosphere 69: 1695-1702.

Yen, T.W., W.P. Marsh, M.D. MacKinnon and P.M. Fedorak, 2004. Measuring naphthenic acids concentrations in aqueous environmental samples by liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A 1033: 83-90.

Yukselen, M.A., K. O'Halloran and J. Gregory, 2006. Effect of ozone on the formation and breakup of flocs in raw waters with high algae content. Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part A – Toxic/Hazardous Substances & Environmental Engineering 41: 1173-1182.

Zhu, R., Q.X. Liu, Z.H. Xu, J.H. Masliyah and A. Khan, 2011. Role of dissolving carbon dioxide in densification of oil sands tailings. Energy & Fuels 25: 2049-2057.

## 7 GLOSSARY

## 7.1 Terms

## Aggregation

Aggregation is the clustering of small particles that attract each other via intermolecular forces.

#### Anion

An anion is an ion with a net negative electric charge (e.g., Cl<sup>-</sup>).

#### Cation

A cation is an ion with a net positive electric charge (e.g.,  $Ca^{2+}$ ).

## Colloid

A colloid is a substance whose particles are evenly dispersed throughout another substance without settling; the diameter of the colloidal particles is between 1 and 1,000 nanometres.

## Consolidation

Consolidation is an extreme form of aggregation; it involves a decrease in water content and an increase in solid content of a substance.

## Floc

A floc is an aggregation, or flocculation, of fine suspended particles.

## Flocculant

A flocculant is a substance, often an organic polymer, that is used to enhance the aggregation or flocculation of fine particles.

## **Initial Settling Curve**

The initial settling curves were created by plotting the solid-liquid interface positions over time for the first three hours of settling of the MFT suspensions. They describe the settling status of MFT suspension as a function of time.

## **Metal-Humate**

A metal-humate is a complex formed by the association between a metal ion and a humic (organic) substance.

## **Organometallic Complex**

An organometallic complex contains at least one metal-to-carbon bond in which the carbon is part of an organic group.

## Ozone

Ozone is a molecule consisting of three oxygen atoms, with the chemical formula O<sub>3</sub>.

## Polymer

A polymer is a large molecule composed of many repeated subunits.

## Semi-batch Method

The semi-batch method refers to a process that is neither fully continuous (where substances are continually replaced) nor fully batch (where substances remain fixed); it allows substance addition or removal a certain times throughout the process.

## **Stabilized Organic Matter**

Stabilized organic matter is matter in which particle surfaces have enough repulsive forces (positive or negative) to resist aggregation and keep them in solution.

## Steric

The spatial arrangement of atoms in a molecule is the molecule's steric character.

## Supernatant

The supernatant is a precipitate-free liquid remaining above a solid after crystallization, precipitation, centrifugation, or other treatment that causes the aggregation of particles in a solution.

## wt%

Percentage by weight.

## Zeta Potential

The zeta potential is the electrokinetic potential in the interfacial electrical double layer at the location of the slipping plane versus a point in the bulk fluid away from the interface.

7.2 Acronyms	
AEF	Acid Extractable Fraction
Al-PAM	Al(OH)3 -Polyacrylamide
CHWE	Clark Hot Water Extraction
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon Dioxide

COD	Chemical Oxygen Demand
CPS	Counts per Second
СТ	Composite or Consolidated Tailings
DI	Deionized (water)
DCM	Dichloromethane
DI	Deionized
DLVO	Derjaguin-Landau-Verwey-Overbeek
eV	Electron Volt
FT-IR	Fourier Transformed Infrared Spectroscopy
h/H	Normalized Interface Position (H – Total Height of the Suspension; h – Height of the Solid-Liquid Interface)
HPAM	Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide
IC	Ion Chromatography
ICP-OES	Inductively Coupled Plasma xx- Optical Emission Spectrometry
IS	Ionic Strength
mM	Millimolar
mV	Millivolts
MFT	Mature Fine Tailings
NOM	Natural Organic Matter
NTU	Nephelometric Turbidity Units
OSPW	Oil Sands Process-affected Water
OSRIN	Oil Sands Research Information Network
PACI	Polyaluminum Chloride
SEE	School of Energy and the Environment
TDS	Total Dissolved Solids
TOC	Total Organic Carbon
XPS	X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy

## LIST OF OSRIN REPORTS

OSRIN reports are available on the University of Alberta's Education & Research Archive at <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17209</u>. The Technical Report (TR) series documents results of OSRIN funded projects. The Staff Reports (SR) series represent work done by OSRIN staff.

#### OSRIN Technical Reports – <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17507</u>

BGC Engineering Inc., 2010. Oil Sands Tailings Technology Review. OSRIN Report No. TR-1. 136 pp.<u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17555</u>

BGC Engineering Inc., 2010. Review of Reclamation Options for Oil Sands Tailings Substrates. OSRIN Report No. TR-2. 59 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17547</u>

Chapman, K.J. and S.B. Das, 2010. Survey of Albertans' Value Drivers Regarding Oil Sands Development and Reclamation. OSRIN Report TR-3. 13 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17584

Jones, R.K. and D. Forrest, 2010. Oil Sands Mining Reclamation Challenge Dialogue – Report and Appendices. OSRIN Report No. TR-4. 258 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.19092</u>

Jones, R.K. and D. Forrest, 2010. Oil Sands Mining Reclamation Challenge Dialogue – Report. OSRIN Report No. TR-4A. 18 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.19091</u>

James, D.R. and T. Vold, 2010. Establishing a World Class Public Information and Reporting System for Ecosystems in the Oil Sands Region – Report and Appendices. OSRIN Report No. TR-5. 189 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.19093</u>

James, D.R. and T. Vold, 2010. Establishing a World Class Public Information and Reporting System for Ecosystems in the Oil Sands Region – Report. OSRIN Report No. TR-5A. 31 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.19094

Lott, E.O. and R.K. Jones, 2010. Review of Four Major Environmental Effects Monitoring Programs in the Oil Sands Region. OSRIN Report No. TR-6. 114 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/65.20287

Godwalt, C., P. Kotecha and C. Aumann, 2010. Oil Sands Tailings Management Project. OSRIN Report No. TR-7. 64 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.22536</u>

Welham, C., 2010. Oil Sands Terrestrial Habitat and Risk Modeling for Disturbance and Reclamation – Phase I Report. OSRIN Report No. TR-8. 109 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.22567

Schneider, T., 2011. Accounting for Environmental Liabilities under International Financial Reporting Standards. OSRIN Report TR-9. 16 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.22741</u>

Davies, J. and B. Eaton, 2011. Community Level Physiological Profiling for Monitoring Oil Sands Impacts. OSRIN Report No. TR-10. 44 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.22781</u>

Hurndall, B.J., N.R. Morgenstern, A. Kupper and J. Sobkowicz, 2011. Report and Recommendations of the Task Force on Tree and Shrub Planting on Active Oil Sands Tailings Dams. OSRIN Report No. TR-11. 15 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.22782</u>

Gibson, J.J., S.J. Birks, M. Moncur, Y. Yi, K. Tattrie, S. Jasechko, K. Richardson, and P. Eby, 2011. Isotopic and Geochemical Tracers for Fingerprinting Process-Affected Waters in the Oil Sands Industry: A Pilot Study. OSRIN Report No. TR-12. 109 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.23000

Oil Sands Research and Information Network, 2011. Equivalent Land Capability Workshop Summary Notes. OSRIN Report TR-13. 83 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.23385</u>

Kindzierski, W., J. Jin and M. Gamal El-Din, 2011. Plain Language Explanation of Human Health Risk Assessment. OSRIN Report TR-14. 37 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.23487</u>

Welham, C. and B. Seely, 2011. Oil Sands Terrestrial Habitat and Risk Modelling for Disturbance and Reclamation – Phase II Report. OSRIN Report No. TR-15. 93 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.24547

Morton Sr., M., A. Mullick, J. Nelson and W. Thornton, 2011. Factors to Consider in Estimating Oil Sands Plant Decommissioning Costs. OSRIN Report No. TR-16. 62 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.24630</u>

Paskey, J. and G. Steward, 2012. The Alberta Oil Sands, Journalists, and Their Sources. OSRIN Report No. TR-17. 33 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.25266</u>

Cruz-Martinez, L. and J.E.G. Smits, 2012. Potential to Use Animals as Monitors of Ecosystem Health in the Oil Sands Region – July 2013 Update. OSRIN Report No. TR-18. 59 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.25417

Hashisho, Z., C.C. Small and G. Morshed, 2012. Review of Technologies for the Characterization and Monitoring of VOCs, Reduced Sulphur Compounds and CH<sub>4</sub>. OSRIN Report No. TR-19. 93 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.25522</u>

Kindzierski, W., J. Jin and M. Gamal El-Din, 2012. Review of Health Effects of Naphthenic Acids: Data Gaps and Implications for Understanding Human Health Risk. OSRIN Report No. TR-20. 43 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.26060</u>

Zhao, B., R. Currie and H. Mian, 2012. Catalogue of Analytical Methods for Naphthenic Acids Related to Oil Sands Operations. OSRIN Report No. TR-21. 65 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.26792</u>

Oil Sands Research and Information Network and Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, 2012. Summary of the Oil Sands Groundwater – Surface Water Interactions Workshop. OSRIN Report No. TR-22. 125 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.26831</u>

Valera, E. and C.B. Powter, 2012. Implications of Changing Environmental Requirements on Oil Sands Royalties. OSRIN Report No. TR-23. 21 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.27344</u>

Dixon, R., M. Maier, A. Sandilya and T. Schneider, 2012. Qualifying Environmental Trusts as Financial Security for Oil Sands Reclamation Liabilities. OSRIN Report No. TR-24. 32 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.28305

Creasey, R., 2012. Workshop on the Information that Professionals Would Look for in Mineable Oil Sands Reclamation Certification. OSRIN Report No. TR-25. 52 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.28331

Alberta Innovates – Technology Futures, 2012. Investigating a Knowledge Exchange Network for the Reclamation Community. OSRIN Report No. TR-26. 42 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.28407

Dixon, R.J., J. Kenney and A.C. Sandilya, 2012. Audit Protocol for the Mine Financial Security Program. OSRIN Report No. TR-27. 27 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.28514</u>

Davies, J., B. Eaton and D. Humphries, 2012. Microcosm Evaluation of Community Level Physiological Profiling in Oil Sands Process Affected Water. OSRIN Report No. TR-28. 33 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.29322

Thibault, B., 2012. Assessing Corporate Certification as Impetus for Accurate Reporting in Self-Reported Financial Estimates Underlying Alberta's Mine Financial Security Program. OSRIN Report No. TR-29. 37 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.29361</u>

Pyper, M.P., C.B. Powter and T. Vinge, 2013. Summary of Resiliency of Reclaimed Boreal Forest Landscapes Seminar. OSRIN Report No. TR-30. 131 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.30360

Pyper, M. and T. Vinge, 2013. A Visual Guide to Handling Woody Materials for Forested Land Reclamation. OSRIN Report No. TR-31. 10 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.30381</u>

Mian, H., N. Fassina, A. Mukherjee, A. Fair and C.B. Powter, 2013. Summary of 2013 Tailings Technology Development and Commercialization Workshop. OSRIN Report No. TR-32. 69 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.31012</u>

Howlett, M. and J. Craft, 2013. Application of Federal Legislation to Alberta's Mineable Oil Sands. OSRIN Report No. TR-33. 94 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.31627</u>

Welham, C., 2013. Factors Affecting Ecological Resilience of Reclaimed Oil Sands Uplands. OSRIN Report No. TR-34. 44 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.31714</u>

Naeth, M.A., S.R. Wilkinson, D.D. Mackenzie, H.A. Archibald and C.B. Powter, 2013. Potential of LFH Mineral Soil Mixes for Land Reclamation in Alberta. OSRIN Report No. TR-35. 64 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.31855</u>

Welham, C. and B. Seely, 2013. Oil Sands Terrestrial Habitat and Risk Modelling for Disturbance and Reclamation: The Impact of Climate Change on Tree Regeneration and Productivity – Phase III Report. OSRIN Report No. TR-36. 65 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.31900</u> Eaton, B., T. Muhly, J. Fisher and S-L. Chai, 2013. Potential Impacts of Beaver on Oil Sands Reclamation Success – an Analysis of Available Literature. OSRIN Report No. TR-37. 65 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.32764

Paskey, J., G. Steward and A. Williams, 2013. The Alberta Oil Sands Then and Now: An Investigation of the Economic, Environmental and Social Discourses Across Four Decades. OSRIN Report No. TR-38. 108 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.32845</u>

Watson, B.M. and G. Putz, 2013. Preliminary Watershed Hydrology Model for Reclaimed Oil Sands Sites. OSRIN Report No. TR-39. 193 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.34250</u>

Birks, S.J., Y. Yi, S. Cho, J.J. Gibson and R. Hazewinkel, 2013. Characterizing the Organic Composition of Snow and Surface Water in the Athabasca Region. OSRIN Report No. TR-40. 62 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.36643</u>

De Corby, R.G., 2013. Development of Silicon-Based Optofluidic Sensors for Oil Sands Environmental Monitoring. OSRIN Report No. TR-41. 19 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.36936</u>

Iqbal, M., T.K. Purkait, J.G.C. Veinot and G.G. Goss, 2013. Benign-by-Design: Synthesis of Engineered Silicon Nanoparticles and their Application to Oil Sands Water Contaminant Remediation. OSRIN Report No. TR-42. 30 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.37308</u>

Oil Sands Research and Information Network, 2013. Future of Shrubs in Oil Sands Reclamation Workshop. OSRIN Report No. TR-43. 71 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.37440</u>

Smreciu, A., K. Gould and S. Wood, 2013. Boreal Plant Species for Reclamation of Athabasca Oil Sands Disturbances. OSRIN Report No. TR-44. 23 pp. plus appendices. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.37533

Pereira, A.S. and J.W. Martin, 2014. On-Line Solid Phase Extraction – HPLC – Orbitrap Mass Spectrometry for Screening and Quantifying Targeted and Non-Targeted Analytes in Oil Sands Process-Affected Water and Natural Waters in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region. OSRIN Report No. TR-45. 33 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.37793</u>

## OSRIN Videos - http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.29304

Rooney Productions, 2012. <u>Assessment Methods for Oil Sands Reclamation Marshes</u>. OSRIN Video No. V-1. 20 minutes. Also available on the <u>University of Alberta You Tube</u> Channel (recommended approach).

Rooney Productions, 2012. <u>Assessment Methods for Oil Sands Reclamation Marshes</u>. OSRIN Video No. V-1. Nine-part mobile device version. Also available on the University of Alberta You Tube Channel (<u>link to Part 1</u> - recommended approach).

#### OSRIN Staff Reports - http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.19095

OSRIN, 2010. Glossary of Terms and Acronyms used in Oil Sands Mining, Processing and Environmental Management – December 2013 Update. OSRIN Report No. SR-1. 123 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17544

OSRIN, 2010. OSRIN Writer's Style Guide – November 2013 Update. OSRIN Report No. SR-2. 29 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17545</u>

OSRIN, 2010. OSRIN Annual Report: 2009/2010. OSRIN Report No. SR-3. 27 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17546

OSRIN, 2010. Guide to OSRIN Research Grants and Services Agreements - June 2011 Update. OSRIN Report No. SR-4. 21 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17558</u>

OSRIN, 2011. Summary of OSRIN Projects – December 2013 Update. OSRIN Report No. SR-5. 97 pp. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.20529</u>

OSRIN, 2011. OSRIN Annual Report: 2010/11. OSRIN Report No. SR-6. 34 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.23032

OSRIN, 2011. OSRIN's Design and Implementation Strategy. OSRIN Report No. SR-7. 10 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.23574

OSRIN, 2012. OSRIN Annual Report: 2011/12. OSRIN Report No. SR-8. 25 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.26715

OSRIN, 2013. OSRIN Annual Report: 2012/13. OSRIN Report No. SR-9. 56 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.31211